RECEIVED

OCT. 26 2016

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Charleston County

William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CHRISTOPHER D. CAMPBELL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002339

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

DEC 04 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County

William Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In violation of Appellant's federal and state constitutional rights to require the state prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt and to a presumption of innocence, the trial judge erred in failing to instruct the jury that good character and reputation may in and of itself create a doubt as to guilt and should be considered where Appellant presented evidence of his good character and requested the charge.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 1, 2011, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant for armed robbery (2011-GS-10-4830) and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (2011-GS-10-4831). R. 317. The state, represented by Alexander J. Ziegler and Benjamin C. Simpson, called the case for trial before the Honorable William Jeffrey Young and a jury on October 21, 2014. Jason T. King and Luke Malloy represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty on both counts. R. 310, lines 5-14. Judge Young sentenced Appellant to eighteen years' imprisonment for armed robbery and to five years' imprisonment for the weapon. He ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. R. 315, lines 1-7; R. 319.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the morning of May 4, 2011, Christopher Riley arrived at Firehouse Subs restaurant on King Street in Charleston to start his shift. R. 52, line 24 – R. 53, line 3; R. 53, line 21 – R. 54, line 5. The restaurant was not open yet. R. 54, line 24 – R. 55, line 9. Shortly after Riley's arrival, another employee, Leslie Green, arrived through the unlocked front door. R. 57, lines 14-19; R. 58, line 11 – R. 59, line 11. Seconds later, an unknown individual entered, pointed a fully loaded .38 Smith and Wesson revolver, and demanded money. R. 60, line 10 – R. 61, line 3; R. 65, line 21 – R. 66, line 15; R. 131, lines 1-6. After Riley placed the money in a green and black bookbag, the robber left. R. 61, line 4 – R. 63, line 2; R. 67, lines 8-10.

Riley called the police to report the robbery and provide a description of the robber. R. 67, lines 18-20; R. 64, lines 5-23. While Riley and Green waited for the police to arrive, the two walked in and out of the restaurant using the front door – the same one used by the robber. R. 37, lines 5-11; R. 78, line 25 – R. 79, line 20. When the police arrived, Riley gave another description of the robber. R. 38, line 1 – R. 39, line 2. The first officer on the scene indicated in his report that the Riley claimed the robber had gold teeth. However, during the trial, the officer claimed this was information relayed by dispatch, not from Riley. He said his report was “not entirely accurate as to what happened.” R. 38, lines 18-23; R. 41, line 24 – R. 43, line 21. At the trial, Riley described the robber as wearing “black sunglasses, black and white zipped down hoodie, gray sweatpants, and black and red Jordans” and carrying a “green and black bookbag.” Riley further claimed the robber had a goatee and a moustache. R. 63, lines 3-17. Riley estimated the robber was between 6’1”

and 6'3" in height, between twenty-three and twenty-six years of age, and had dark brown skin. R. 65, lines 4-10.

The police secured the video surveillance from the restaurant showing the robbery. R. 27, line 9 – R. 29, line 7; State's Exhibit #1.¹ One of the officers thought the robber's interactions with Green were peculiar and suspicious. Based only on their suspicions, the officers interrogated Green at the police station for several hours the day after the robbery. R. 92, lines 15-18; R. 103, line 21 – R. 104, line 2; R. 106, lines 3-5; R. 124, lines 1-7; R. 126, line 22 – R. 129, line 21; R. 130, lines 23-25; R. 131, line 8 – R. 132, line 15. Throughout the course of the interrogation, Green denied being involved in the robbery and denied knowing the identity of the robber. R. 92, lines 19-21; R. 104, lines 9-13; R. 105, line 25 – R. 106, line 2; R. 105, line 25 – R. 106, line 2; R. 124, lines 8-10. Repeatedly, the police told Green of their suspicions that he was involved and that if he failed to cooperate they were "coming at" him. R. 105, lines 14-24; R. 134, lines 6-24. Although the officers were not satisfied with Green's responses, the officers released Green. However, the following day, the officers interrogated Green again. R. 92, line 24 – R. 93, line 4; R. 106, lines 6-8; R. 125, line 13 – R. 126, line 2.

During the second interrogation, one officer told Green, "I take two lies, an initial and a backup. Once you tell me the backup lie, I burn you." R. 107, lines 5-14; R. 135, lines 14-21. During this interrogation, Green initially told the officers that "some guy named 'L'" was the robber. R. 93, lines 5-10; R. 107, lines 15-24; R. 126, lines 19-21; R. 135, line 22 – R. 136, line 4. The police did not believe Green's claim about "L" and continued the interrogation. Eventually, Green, exasperated and having been threatened

¹ State's Exhibit #1 is on file with this Court.

with arrest, told the police that Appellant was the robber. R. 93, line 2 – R. 94, line 5; R. 108, lines 6-7; R. 108, lines 13-20; R. 126, lines 11-18. Repeatedly, the police showed Green a photograph of Appellant asking if Appellant were the robber. Despite his initial protestations, Green ultimately succumbed to the pressure and agreed with the police that Appellant was the robber. R. 94, lines 8-25; R. 109, lines 3-9; R. 128, lines 2-17.

Ultimately, law enforcement charged Green with armed robbery for his role. R. 84, lines 7-12; R. 99, lines 14-15. Subsequently, Green entered into an agreement with the prosecutor to testify against Petitioner. Oddly, the agreement provided no promises in return for Green's testimony, but Green hoped to get the charge dropped. R. 84, line 13 – R. 85, line 4; R. 98, line 18 – R. 99, line 1; R. 100, line 15 – R. 101, line 6. Green and Appellant were third cousins who lived close to each other on May 4, 2011. Appellant agreed to drive Green to work at Firehouse Subs that morning. R. 85, line – R. 66, line 15; R. 240, line 23 – R. 242, line 1. Green claimed Appellant dropped him off in front of the restaurant. R. 87, lines 2-6; R. 101, lines 7-11. Green also claimed Appellant, armed with a gun, walked into the restaurant after Green. R. 89, line 15 – R. 90, line 5; R. 101, lines 10-14. Green further claimed Appellant got the money and left. R. 91, lines 1-5. Appellant returned Green's car to the parking lot and left the keys in the car for Green to use when he got off from work. R. 91, line 17 – R. 92, line 2; R. 103, lines 8-12; R. 242, lines 2-16.

After arresting Appellant on May 6, 2011, law enforcement executed a search warrant on the home Appellant shared with his grandmother and uncle. R. 128, line 19 – R. 130, line 4. The police found a pair of Nike sneakers under Appellant's uncle's bed. R. 141, lines 1-7; R. 154, line 18 – R. 157, line 19; R. 213, line 18 – R. 215, line 7; R. 227,

lines 3-20; R. 229, lines 23-25; R. 247, lines 3-13; State's Exhibits #22 & #23.² The police found no other evidence during the search connecting Appellant to the robbery – no gray sweatpants, no hoodie, no green and black bookbag filled with money, no firearm, no ammunition. Quite simply, the police found no physical evidence in Appellant's home implicating him in the robbery. When police interrogated Appellant and at trial, Appellant denied having any involvement in the robbery of Firehouse Subs. R. 141, lines 14-22; R. 238, lines 6-8; R. 247, lines 14-20. Appellant explained that he had supper at Firehouse on May 3, 2011, the evening before the robbery, which explained why his fingerprints were on the door. R. 174, line 2 – R. 180, line 4; R. 245, line 7 – R. 246, line 13. Further, Appellant explained that he dropped Green off at work on May 4, 2011 and then returned home. R. 225, line 1 – R. 226, line 7; R. 240, line 23 – R. 242, line 1. Appellant's grandmother testified that Appellant was at home during the early morning of May 4, 2011. R. 209, lines 12-15; R. 212, lines 8-18; R. 219, lines 2-18.

² State's Exhibits #22 and #23 are on file with this Court.

ARGUMENT

In violation of Appellant's federal and state constitutional rights to require the state prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt and to a presumption of innocence, the trial judge erred in failing to instruct the jury that good character and reputation may in and of itself create a doubt as to guilt and should be considered where Appellant presented evidence of his good character and requested the charge.

Relevant facts

Good Character Evidence Presentation

Not only did Appellant deny robbing the restaurant when he testified, Appellant presented evidence of his good character. Martha Campbell, Appellant's grandmother, raised Appellant from the time he was six-months old. R. 209, lines 16-18. Martha described Appellant as an individual who liked to work and held several jobs over his lifetime, including working at a phone company and landscaping. R. 210, lines 9-17. Concerning his character, Martha described Appellant as the type of person who "likes to help people." She also described him as nice and kind. R. 211, line 21 – R. 212, line 1. When asked if he were the kind of person who would rob Firehouse Subs, Martha responded, "No, he would not. He wouldn't have no reason to." R. 212, lines 2-5. Further, she had never seen Appellant with a handgun. R. 212, lines 7. Additionally, Martha recalled that on the morning of May 4, 2011, Appellant was home between 7:40 a.m. and 8:00 a.m. R. 212, lines 8-23.

Appellant's uncle, Leroy Campbell, also attested to Appellant's good character. Leroy had known Appellant his entire life as they were both raised by Martha. R. 224, lines 8-14. Leroy described Appellant as "a nice, easy going guy." He simply could not "see him

going in any store and stealing.” R. 224, lines 17-23. Further, Leroy had never seen Appellant with a handgun. R. 224, lines 24-25.

Finally, George Martin, Appellant’s uncle by marriage, testified regarding Appellant’s good character. R. 230, lines 22-25. George had known Appellant for ten years, which included several months during which Appellant lived with George and his family. R. 231, lines 10-19; R. 233, lines 2-17. Regarding Appellant’s character, George did not “see him doing this. He wouldn’t do this.” R. 231, line 20 – R. 232, line 1. George explained there was “nothing in his nature” to do this crime. “It’s totally out of nature for” Appellant. R. 235, lines 18-25. George described Appellant as “a hard-working young man, very impressive, sharp, articulate.” George stated it all quite simply, “He wouldn’t do this crime.” R. 232, lines 18-20.

Charge Conference

During the charge conference, Appellant requested “[a] good character charge.” To support his request, Appellant cited State v. Lee-Grigg, 387 S.C. 310, 692 S.E.2d 895 (2010). R. 264, lines 10-13. Judge Young responded, “But you can’t use good character to show that somebody doesn’t commit a crime. You’ve got testimony - - they didn’t object to you going further than you did on that.” R. 264, lines 14-17. Relying upon Lee-Grigg, *supra*, Appellant argued that “where requested, and there was evidence of good character, the defendant is entitled to an instruction to the effect that evidence of good character and good reputation may in and of itself create a doubt as to guilt and should be considered by the jury in determining the guilt or innocence of the accused.” R. 264, lines 18-25. After noting the presentation of evidence of good character, Appellant specifically requested the

judge charge the jury “that good character and reputation may in and of itself create a doubt as to guilt and should be considered by the jury.” R. 265, lines 1-5.

Thereafter, Judge Young read “the standard charge”:

Generally, when there is evidence of good character, the defendant [*sic*] evidence of good character, evidence of good character, may in and of itself create a doubt as to whether it should be considered by the jury, along with all other evidence, in determining the guilt or innocence of the defendant. If proved, may be taken into consideration by the jury.

R. 265, lines 14-23. The prosecution responded to the request by merely saying, “I mean, the case speaks for itself.” R. 265, lines 24-25. The judge then stated, “We’ll add that in there.” R. 266, lines 1-2.³

Jury Instructions

However, the judge’s instruction to the jury was deficient and inadequate on this point:

Now, ladies and gentleman, the defendant has presented evidence of good reputation and character to show that he - - that would be inconsistent with the defendant committing the crime. The weight you give of that - - to that testimony, like all other testimony in this case, is for you to decide in your good judgment. You may consider the testimony of the defendant’s good character, along with other evidence, in deciding whether or not the defendant committed the crime.

R. 298, lines 9-18. At the conclusion of the charge, Appellant objected to the judge’s omission that “evidence of good character in and of itself may create a doubt as to guilt.” Specifically, Appellant objected that the language used by the judge “diluted” the use of

³ During his closing argument, trial counsel argued to the jury that it was not in Appellant’s character to rob the restaurant – and the jury knew this based on the evidence presented by Appellant from his character witnesses, his mother, Leroy Campbell, and George Martin. R. 277, lines 7-13. Trial counsel reasonably relied on the judge’s statements during the charge conference regarding how he was going to charge the jury. When the judge failed to charge the jury accordingly, trial counsel’s credibility was diminished in the eyes of the jury. State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001).

good character evidence by the jury. R. 302, lines 10-17. Judge Young responded simply that he was “satisfied with it.” R. 302, line 18.

Discussion

The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001); see also State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 433 S.E.2d 848 (1993). When a requested instruction is supported by the evidence and correctly states the applicable law, the judge is duty-bound to give it. Brown v. Smalls, 325 S.C. 547, 554-555, 481 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 1997)(citing Singletary v. South Carolina Dep’t of Educ., 316 S.C. 153, 447 S.E.2d 231 (Ct. App. 1994)); see also State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 553, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (1996). “Where a request to charge is timely made and involves a controlling legal principle, a refusal by the trial judge to charge the request constitutes reversible error.” Id. at 555, 481 S.E.2d at 448; see also State v. Burris, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999)(holding that a “trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence”).

“The concept of good character evidence is based on the premise that someone who has led a morally sound and lawful existence is less likely to have committed a crime than someone with a history of bad actions and an immoral or amoral approach to the world.” Josephine Ross, *“He looks Guilty”*: *Reforming Good Character Evidence to Undercut the Presumption of Guilt*, 65 U. Pitt. L. Rev. 227, 227 (2004). Good character evidence “gives factual support to the legal presumption of innocence, rendering it more likely that jurors will give the defendant the benefit of the doubt as the law requires.” Id. at 228. A criminal defendant “may introduce affirmative testimony that the general

estimate of his character is so favorable that the jury may infer that he would not be likely to commit the offense charged.” Michelson v. United States, 335 U.S. 469, 476 (1948). In fact, the United States Supreme Court “has held that such testimony alone, in some circumstances, may be enough to raise a reasonable doubt of guilt and that in federal courts a jury in a proper case should be so instructed.” Id. (citing Eddington v. United States, 164 U.S. 361 (1896)).

“It is well settled that a criminal defendant may introduce evidence of his good character.” Lee-Grigg, 387 S.C. 310, 317, 692 S.E.2d 895, 898 (2010). If evidence of good character is presented and the defendant makes the request for an instruction, “a defendant is entitled to an instruction to the effect that evidence of good character and good reputation may in and of itself create doubt as to guilt and should be considered by the jury, along with all the other evidence in determining the guilt or innocence of the defendant.” Id. (quoting State v. Green, 278 S.C. 239, 240, 294 S.E.2d 335, 335 (1982)); see also State v. Harrison, 343 S.C. 165, 175, 539 S.E.2d 71, 76 (Ct. App. 2000)(holding that “a defendant is entitled to a jury instruction regarding evidence of good character and reputation when this type of evidence is presented and the defendant requests the charge”).

Appellant presented evidence of his good character by presenting the testimony of his grandmother and his two uncles. Each of the witnesses testified that it would be out of character for Appellant to engage in an armed robbery. Each of the witnesses testified that Appellant was an industrious young man who helped people. Most importantly, Appellant’s character witnesses testified that it was not in his character to commit an armed robbery. Their interactions with Appellant, two of which covered Appellant’s