STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

OCT 26 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable W. Jeffrey Young, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-002339

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CHRISTOPHER D. CAMPBELL,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

O.T. Wallace Building
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

NOV 30 2015

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge committed no error in instructing the jury on the law because his jury instructions, including his jury instruction in regard to good character evidence, correctly conveyed the relevant and applicable South Carolina law to the jurors, apprised the jurors of the appropriate test for resolving the issues raised by the evidence presented during trial, and ensured the jurors were fully aware they could consider the evidence of Appellant's good character in determining whether he was guilty of the charged offenses.

Appellant contends the trial judge committed reversible error by not sufficiently instructing the jury on evidence of good character. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the jury instruction on good character that was presented by the trial judge was insufficient because it did not include a statement to the jury indicating evidence of good character in and of itself may create a doubt as to guilt. Contrary to Appellant's contentions, the trial judge's jury instructions, including his jury instruction on good character evidence, correctly conveyed the relevant and applicable South Carolina law to the jurors, afforded the jurors the appropriate test for resolving the issues raised by the evidence presented during trial, and ensured the jurors were aware they could consider Appellant's good character evidence in determining whether the State had proven Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Therefore, the additional good character evidence instruction requested by Appellant was unnecessary under the circumstances, and the trial judge's failure to give that instruction was not erroneous or prejudicial to Appellant. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

The purpose of a trial judge's jury instructions is "to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict." State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). When instructing a jury on the law, a trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 2 (2003). In doing so, a trial judge is only required to instruct the jury on the

substance of the law and **does not** have to use any particular verbiage. State v. Burkhardt, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002). A trial judge's jury charge is appropriate if it is substantially correct and adequately covers the law applicable to the case. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996); see State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct. App. 2003) ("A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.").

In reviewing a trial judge's jury instructions for error, the appellate court must view the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009); see Todd v. State, 355 S.C. 396, 402, 585 S.E.2d 305, 308 (2003) ("[J]ury charges should be examined in their entirety and not in isolation in analyzing whether the defendant's due process rights have been violated."). When reviewing the trial judge's jury instructions, the appropriate test involves determining what a reasonable juror would have understood the charge to mean. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 664, 594 S.E.2d 462, 474 (2004). So long as the jury instructions presented are substantially correct and cover the applicable law, reversal is not warranted. See State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) ("A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal."); see also State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 123, 651 S.E.2d 321, 323 (2007) ("A trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied.").

In the case sub judice, the trial judge, through his jury instructions, identified the correct burden of proof for the jury, accurately explained the burden of proof rested solely on the State, thoroughly defined the concept of reasonable doubt, and correctly conveyed Appellant was presumed to be innocent and had no burden whatsoever to prove

anything during his trial. Additionally, the trial judge specifically advised the jurors they had to weigh **all** of the evidence, instructed them on evaluating the credibility of the witnesses and testimony, and informed them they should find Appellant not guilty unless they were convinced of his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Furthermore, the trial judge singled out the good character evidence that had been presented during trial, directly called the jurors' attention to that evidence, advised the jurors Appellant's good character evidence would be inconsistent with a finding of guilt, told them they were responsible for weighing that evidence just like all of the other evidence that had been presented, and specifically informed the jurors they were permitted to consider that evidence in determining whether Appellant was guilty of the charged crimes.⁸ Viewing those jury instructions together as a whole, the trial judge's jury instructions correctly conveyed the relevant and applicable South Carolina law to the jurors and afforded the jurors the appropriate test for resolving the issues raised by the evidence in Appellant's case. See Sheppard, 357 S.C. at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 472-473 ("A jury charge is correct if it contains the correct definition of the law when read as a whole."); see also Burkhart, 350 S.C. at 263, 565 S.E.2d at 304 ("Failure to give requested jury instructions is not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining the issues."). As a result, the trial judge did not commit reversible error in instructing the jury on the law.

⁸ Notably, the good character jury instruction given by the trial judge in Appellant's case was fully consistent with the model good character jury instruction contained in the most recent version of the South Carolina Judicial Department's general sessions bench book, which reads: "THE DEFENDANT HAS PRESENTED EVIDENCE OF HIS [HER] GOOD REPUTATION AND CHARACTER TO SHOW THAT IT WOULD BE INCONSISTENT WITH THE DEFENDANT COMMITTING THE CRIME. THE WEIGHT YOU GIVE TO THAT TESTIMONY, LIKE ALL OTHER TESTIMONY IN THE CASE, IS FOR YOU TO DECIDE IN YOUR GOOD JUDGMENT. YOU MAY CONSIDER TESTIMONY OF THE DEFENDANT'S GOOD CHARACTER ALONG WITH ALL THE OTHER EVIDENCE IN DECIDING WHETHER OR NOT THE DEFENDANT COMMITTED THE CRIME." 2015 Suggested General Sessions Jury Instructions, <http://www.sccourts.org/juryCharges/GSInstructions.2015.pdf>.

In arguing to the contrary, Appellant contends the trial judge's instruction on good character evidence was not sufficient because it did not contain specific verbiage informing the jury evidence of good character in and of itself can establish a reasonable doubt. Importantly though, while such verbiage has been found to constitute an appropriate instruction in regard to good character evidence, the good character jury evidence instruction actually given by the trial judge in Appellant's case was adequate to ensure the jurors knew they could consider the good character evidence that had been presented in determining Appellant's credibility and culpability and were aware such evidence could impact their determination of whether the State had met its burden of proving Appellant's guilt.⁹ See State v. Holmes, 277 S.C. 232, 234, 285 S.E.2d 353, 354 (1981) (recognizing a trial judge does not have to use any particular language when instructing the jury on the law so long as the instructions given adequately cover the relevant and applicable law). Thus, the jurors in Appellant's case were unquestionably **not** in a situation where they were unaware they could consider the evidence of Appellant's good character in deciding his case. Cf. State v. Lee-Grigg, 387 S.C. 310, 317, 692 S.E.2d 895, 898 (2010) (finding reversible error in the failure to instruct the jury

⁹ Interestingly, the first reference in South Carolina to an instruction indicating "that evidence of good character and good reputation may in and of itself create a doubt as to guilt" arose in State v. Green, 278 S.C. 239, 240, 294 S.E.2d 335, 335 (1982). In that case, the Supreme Court cited to State v. Lyles, 210 S.C. 87, 41 S.E.2d 625 (1947), as support for such an instruction. Green, 278 S.C. at 240, 294 S.E.2d at 335. However, in Lyles, the Supreme Court merely recognized good character evidence could be considered by the jury in determining whether the defendant committed the charged crime while specifically noting it was for the jury to determine what force and effect that evidence should have when it was considered in connection with the other evidence presented during trial. Lyles, 210 S.C. at 92, 41 S.E.2d at 627. Similarly, in the authorities cited by Lyles in regard to good character evidence, no statement was made indicating the jury should be instructed good character evidence standing alone in and of itself can establish a doubt as to guilt. See State v. Hill, 129 S.C. 166, 170, 123 S.E. 817, 818 (1924) (finding a jury instruction indicating the jury can take evidence of the defendant's good reputation into consideration in determining whether he committed a crime to be a proper instruction on the law regarding good character evidence); State v. Barth, 25 S.C. 175, 177 (1886) (stating "it is the privilege of the accused, in all cases where character is admissible, to put in evidence his good character without regard to the other proofs in the case, and it is for the jury to consider it in connection with the other evidence, and determine what force and effect it should have" (emphasis added)).

on good character evidence because “without an instruction the jury was not aware that it could consider this evidence in determining [Lee-Grigg’s] credibility and culpability”). Under those circumstances, any further instruction on good character evidence was unnecessary to ensure the jurors were capable of correctly evaluating the evidence presented during trial, including the good character evidence, and reaching a correct verdict in Appellant’s case. See State v. Rabon, 275 S.C. 459, 462, 272 S.E.2d 634, 636 (1980) (“While the charge would not have been inappropriate, we are of the opinion that the judge’s charge, when considered as a whole, adequately covered the applicable law under the facts of this case. The Constitution of this State requires that the trial judge declare the law, but no particular verbiage is necessary. It is sufficient if the precepts stated to the jury adequately cover that law which is applicable.”).

Because the trial judge’s jury instructions correctly conveyed the relevant and applicable law to the jurors and provided the jurors with the appropriate test for deciding Appellant’s case, the trial judge committed no error in instructing the jurors on the law. See Rye, 375 S.C. at 123, 651 S.E.2d at 323 (“A trial court’s decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied.”). Accordingly, even though an instruction indicating good character evidence in and of itself can establish a doubt as to guilt has been recognized as a proper statement of law in South Carolina, the jury instructions as given were not erroneous and do not justify or warrant the grant of a new trial.¹⁰ See Rabon, 275 S.C. at 462, 272

¹⁰ Notably, the simple fact a statement of law might be correct does not necessarily justify an instruction on that statement of law or mean such an instruction is necessary or required in order for the jurors to be able to carry out their roles during trial. See, e.g., State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 612, n. 9, 685 S.E.2d 802, 810 (2009) (“It is axiomatic that some matters appropriate for jury argument are not proper for charging. ‘Do jurors need the court’s permission to infer something? The answer if, of course not.’” (citation omitted)). As an example, Green directly testified during trial he witnessed Appellant commit the robbery, and his testimony, if accepted as true, could **alone** establish Appellant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt in and of

S.E.2d at 636 (1980) (holding the failure to give a jury instruction on a proper statement of law did not constitute reversible error in light of the fact the jury instructions as given adequately and sufficiently covered the applicable law). Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.¹¹

itself. However, an instruction indicating eyewitness testimony can alone prove a defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt would indisputably constitute an unnecessary and improper jury instruction during a trial despite the fact it would constitute an accurate statement of law. See State v. Cheeks, 401 S.C. 322, 328, 737 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2013) ("Simply because certain facts may be considered by the jury as evidence of guilt in a given case where the circumstances warrant, it does not follow that future juries should be charged that these facts are probative of guilt. It is always for the jury to determine the facts, and the inferences that are to be drawn from these facts."); see generally State v. Smith, 288 S.C. 329, 331, 342 S.E.2d 600, 601 (1986) ("The trial judge must refrain from all comment which tends to indicate his opinion as to the weight or sufficiency of the evidence, the credibility of the witnesses, the guilt of the accused or as to controverted facts."); State v. Deas, 202 S.C. 9, 14, 23 S.E.2d 820, 822 (1943) ("Of course, under our Constitution and practice the jury are the sole judges of the facts in criminal trials and it is error for the Judge to communicate his views of them to the jury."). Therefore, much like an instruction on the ability of eyewitness testimony to alone establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, the trial judge's failure to give an extra instruction on good character evidence indicating such evidence can alone establish a reasonable doubt was not necessary in Appellant's case in light of the fact the jurors had specifically been instructed they could consider the good character evidence that had been presented in determining whether Appellant was guilty of the charged crimes. See Michelson v. United States, 335 U.S. 469, 474, n. 5 (1948) ("A judge of long trial and appellate experience has uttered a warning which, in the opinion of the writer, we might well have heeded in determining whether to grant certiorari here: '* * * evidence of good character is to be used like any other, once it gets before the jury, and the less they are told about the grounds for its admission, or what they shall do with it, the more likely they are to use it sensibly. The subject seems to gather mist which discussion serves only to thicken, and which we can scarcely hope to dissipate by anything further we can add.'") (citation omitted)).

¹¹ Significantly, even assuming the trial judge somehow erred in instructing the jury on good character evidence, any error was nonetheless harmless and non-prejudicial in light of the fact the jury was unquestionably aware it could consider the good character evidence based on the correct instructions that were actually given, which prevented the prejudice found by the Supreme Court in Lee-Grigg from occurring in Appellant's case, coupled with the fact the evidence of Appellant's guilt, which included Green's eyewitness identification of Appellant as the perpetrator of the crimes, the incriminating fingerprints recovered from a surface touched by the robber, and the testimony regarding Appellant's false statements after he was arrested, overwhelmingly established Appellant's guilt for the charged offenses. See Lee-Grigg, 387 S.C. at 317, 692 S.E.2d at 898 (finding the failure to instruct the jury on good character evidence to be prejudicial because "without an instruction the jury was not aware that it could consider this evidence in determining [Lee-Grigg's] credibility and culpability"); Green, 278 S.C. at 240, 294 S.E.2d at 335 ("[T]he refusal in this case to instruct the jury on the issue of good character was not reversible error, because we are not convicted that such refusal prejudiced the appellant."); see also State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 94, n. 8, 747 S.E.2d 444, 449 (2013) ("The trial court's jury instruction, as a whole, properly conveyed the applicable law. Thus, any conceivable error [in failing to give a requested circumstantial evidence jury instruction] was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." (citations omitted)); State v. Tench, 353 S.C. 531, 537, 579 S.E.2d 314, 317 (2003) ("Given the abundant evidence of Tench's guilt, we find any error in admission of the seized items clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt."); State v. Gathers, 295 S.C. 476, 480-481, 369 S.E.2d 140, 143 (1988) (finding an error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of the appellant's guilt); see generally State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (finding the erroneous admission of evidence was harmless where its impact was minimal in the context of the entire record).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.